
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 1  
                                                                                  COMPLAINT   
 

PAUL M. JONNA (265389) 
   pjonna@limandri.com 
MARK D. MYERS (235719) 
   mmyers@limandri.com 
LIMANDRI & JONNA LLP 
P.O. Box 9120 
Rancho Santa Fe, California 92067 
Tel:  858-759-9930 
Fax:  858-759-9938 
 
PAUL J. DOSTART (81841) 
   pdostart@sdlaw.com 
DOSTART HANNINK & COVENEY LLP 
4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 
La Jolla, California 92037-1474 
Tel:  858-623-4200 
Fax: 858-623-4299 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

FREE SACRED TRINITY CHURCH, 

a California nonprofit religious 

corporation; and OPTIMUM HEALTH 

INSTITUTE - SAN DIEGO, a 

California nonprofit religious 

corporation,  

 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, 

 

Defendant. 

 

 Case No.: 

 

IMAGED FILE  

 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION 

OF FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

ACT [5 U.S.C. § 552] 

 

 

 

Plaintiffs Free Sacred Trinity Church (“FSTC”) and Optimum Health Institute 

- San Diego (“OHI-SD”) bring this action against the Internal Revenue Service 

(“IRS”) to compel compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

(“FOIA”).   

'21CV1756 DEBGPC
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, because this is an action to enforce 

FOIA by complainants who have their principal place of business in this district. 

2. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff FSTC is a nonprofit, religious corporation organized under the 

laws of the State of California and has its principal place of business at 6970 Central 

Avenue, Lemon Grove, California 91945.  Plaintiff FSTC is operated to serve 

humankind as a church which teaches and trains followers in a distinct religious creed 

based upon Judeo-Christian beliefs and holistic healing and nutrition practices. 

4. Plaintiff OHI-SD is a nonprofit, religious corporation organized under 

the laws of the State of California and has its principal place of business at 

6970 Central Avenue, Lemon Grove, California 91945.  Plaintiff OHI-SD is affiliated 

with and subject to the general supervision and control of Plaintiff FSTC.  

Plaintiff OHI-SD is organized and operated to be a church engaged in the 

indoctrination of devotees and potential devotees in the teachings and doctrine of 

Plaintiff FSTC, a church. 

5. Defendant, the IRS, is a component entity of the Department of the 

Treasury, which is a Department of the Executive Branch of the United States 

Government.  The IRS is headquartered at 1111 Constitution Avenue, NW, 

Washington, D.C. 20224.  Defendant has possession, custody, and control of the 

records requested by Plaintiffs.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Basis for the FOIA Requests  

6. By a letter dated October 29, 2018, David W. Horton, then Acting 

Commissioner, Tax Exempt and Government Entities Division, IRS, informed 
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Plaintiff FSTC that the Commissioner had questions and concerns regarding FSTC’s 

tax-exempt status as a church under 26 U.S.C. § 501(a).  A true and correct copy of 

that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  The October 29, 2018 letter confirmed that 

an audit was a possible outcome of the inquiries (the “IRS Inquiries”) initiated by 

such letter. 

7. In a 105-page response (including a 23-page letter and 82 pages of 

attachments) dated November 20, 2018, Plaintiffs informed the Commissioner, 

among other things, that Plaintiff FSTC has not substantively changed the way in 

which it operates since it was formed approximately 42 years ago.  Since its inception, 

Plaintiff FSTC has been audited by the IRS, has applied for and received a 501(c)(3) 

/ 170(b)(1)(A)(i) Determination Letter, and has been issued a Group Exemption 

Number.  In each of those instances, the IRS undertook an in-depth review of Plaintiff 

FSTC’s activities and those of its then-existing missions, and consistently determined 

that Plaintiff FSTC is properly recognized by the IRS as a church within the meaning 

of 26 U.S.C. § 170(b)(1)(A)(i). 

8. Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ substantive response to the IRS Inquiries and 

the numerous instances in which the IRS has previously reviewed Plaintiff FSTC’s 

activities and those of its missions and found them to be those of a church, the IRS 

has commenced an audit of FSTC for the tax period ended December 31, 2016. 

The 2019 FOIA Request and FOIA Action 

9. In order to fully address and provide responses to the IRS’s concerns, 

Plaintiffs would like to understand what caused the IRS to begin the IRS Inquiries.  

On March 5, 2019, Plaintiffs submitted to Defendant by certified mail a FOIA request 

dated March 4, 2019 (the “2019 FOIA Request”), seeking access to: 

a. The IRS’s entire file (including, without limitation, its 

administrative file), that may or does relate to the IRS Inquiries, 

including, without limitation:  

i. All intra-IRS correspondence and referrals; 
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ii. All inter-agency correspondence and referrals; 

iii. All inter-governmental entity (for example, state 

governmental entity) correspondence and referrals; 

and 

iv. All whistleblower filings or public complaints 

howsoever documented and regardless of whether on 

Form 211, Form 13909, or otherwise; 

b. All other documents in the IRS’s possession that may or do relate 

to the IRS Inquiries, including any documents showing how the 

IRS reached a decision, or contributed to the IRS’s decision, to 

raise the IRS Inquiries; and 

c. All documents provided to, made available to, seen by, referred 

to, or otherwise provided for use or used, in any manner by the 

applicable high-level Treasury official (as that phrase is used in 

26 U.S.C. § 7611(a)(2)), in forming a reasonable belief on the 

basis of facts and circumstances recorded in writing to justify the 

IRS examination of any, some, or all of Plaintiff FSTC, 

Plaintiff OHI-SD, and/or their affiliate, OHI-A [Optimum Health 

Institute - Austin]. 

A true and correct copy of the 2019 FOIA Request is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.   

10. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), Defendant was required to 

determine whether to comply with Plaintiffs’ request within twenty (20) working days 

after Defendant’s receipt of Plaintiffs’ 2019 FOIA Request (i.e., by April 8, 2019), 

and to notify Plaintiffs immediately of its determination, the reasons therefor, and the 

right to appeal any adverse determination.  In a letter dated April 8, 2019, Defendant 

acknowledged receipt of Plaintiffs’ 2019 FOIA Request and assigned it case number 

F19071 0040.  After four extensions of the statutory response deadline (by letters 

dated April 8, 2019; June 21, 2019; and September 25, 2019) extending the deadline 
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from April 8, 2019 to November 29, 2019, and after Defendant requested a fifth 

extension until December 17, 2019, Plaintiffs, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C), 

were deemed to have exhausted any and all administrative remedies with respect to 

Plaintiffs’ 2019 FOIA Request. 

11. In light of the above, on December 9, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint 

for Violation of Freedom of Information Act [5 U.S.C. § 552] which initiated the 

action entitled Free Sacred Trinity Church, et al. v. IRS, No. 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB 

(S.D. Cal.) (the “2019 FOIA Action”).   

12. In the 2019 FOIA Action, the IRS agreed to release all non-exempt, 

responsive records to Plaintiffs in response to the 2019 FOIA Request and released 

the first set of records on December 20, 2019; transferred the FOIA request from the 

agency’s Disclosure Office to the IRS Office of Chief Counsel in order to assist the 

Department of Justice in that case; and informed the Court that the Office of Chief 

Counsel would “(1) conduct a separate search of the records released in December 

2019 and [] release accordingly and (2) conduct a supplemental search for responsive 

records and release any responsive, non-exempt records.”  Status Report, Free Sacred 

Trinity Church, et al. v. IRS, No. 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB (S.D. Cal. May 15, 2020), 

ECF No. 13 at ¶¶ 2-3. 

13. The IRS Office of Chief Counsel completed its supplemental search of 

the records released in December 2019 and, beginning in March 2020, commenced a 

supplemental search of responsive records.  Status Report, Free Sacred Trinity 

Church, et al. v. IRS, No. 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB (S.D. Cal. May 15, 2020), ECF No. 

13 at ¶ 8.  Beginning May 11, 2020, the IRS began releasing responsive, non-exempt  

records as they became available and continues to release such records on a monthly 

rolling basis.  Id.; Order, Free Sacred Trinity Church, et al. v. IRS, No. 3:19-cv-

02358-W-JLB (S.D. Cal. Sept. 20, 2020), ECF No. 20 at ¶ 2.  The Court also ordered 

the IRS to file a Status Report every sixty days to update the Court on the progress of 

the document review and release of records.  Order, ECF No. 20 at ¶ 1.   
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14. In a Status Report filed by the IRS on July 12, 2021, the IRS stated that 

it expects to complete its document review regarding the 2019 FOIA Request 

sometime between October and December 2021.  Status Report, Free Sacred Trinity 

Church, et al. v. IRS, No. 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB (S.D. Cal. July 12, 2021), ECF No. 

25 at ¶¶ 3, 5.  The IRS also confirmed that it will continue to release all non-exempt, 

responsive records in response to the 2019 FOIA Request to Plaintiffs on a monthly 

basis.  Id. at ¶ 6.  This confirmation was reiterated in the IRS’s latest Status Report 

filed on September 10, 2021.  Status Report, Free Sacred Trinity Church, et al. v. IRS, 

No. 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB (S.D. Cal. September 10, 2021), ECF No. 26 at ¶ 3.   

The 2021 FOIA Request 

15. Because of the amount of time that has elapsed since Plaintiffs’ 2019 

FOIA Request and to ensure that Plaintiffs receive all relevant records, on 

March 12, 2021, Plaintiffs submitted to Defendant by certified mail a renewed FOIA 

request, which expanded the 2019 FOIA Request to include all documents prepared 

or dated from March 4, 2019 to and including the date on which the IRS provides its 

last batch of documents to Plaintiffs regarding the request and which includes 

additional categories of documents (the “2021 FOIA Request”).  The 2021 FOIA 

Request seeks access to: 

a. The IRS’s entire file (including, without limitation, its 

administrative file), that may or does relate to the IRS Inquiries 

(as defined below), including, without limitation:  

i. All intra-IRS correspondence and referrals; 

ii. All inter-agency correspondence and referrals; 

iii. All inter-governmental entity (e.g., state 

governmental entity) correspondence and referrals; 

and 

/ / / 
 
/ / /  
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iv. All whistleblower filings or public complaints 

howsoever documented and regardless of whether on 

Form 211, Form 13909, or otherwise; 

b. All other documents in the IRS’s possession that may or do relate 

to the IRS Inquiries, including any documents showing how the 

IRS reached a decision, or contributed to the IRS’s decision, to 

raise the IRS Inquiries;  

c. All documents provided to, made available to, seen by, referred 

to, or otherwise provided for use or used, in any manner by the 

applicable high-level Treasury official (as that phrase is used in 

IRC section 7611(a)(2)), in forming a reasonable belief on the 

basis of facts and circumstances recorded in writing to justify the 

IRS examination of any, some, or all of FSTC, OHI-SD, and/or 

OHI-A [Optimum Health Institute - Austin]; 

d. All other documents in the IRS’s possession that may or do relate 

to or show how the IRS reached a decision, or contributed to the 

IRS’s decision, to issue the two initial reports of examination 

issued to me under cover of letter dated January 21, 2021; 

e. All documents that relate to the Treasury Inspector General for 

Tax Administration (“TIGTA”) inquiry or investigation of Paul J. 

Dostart, and/or which relate to the interview of Paul J. Dostart by 

TIGTA agents on May 14, 2020, and which were created on or 

after January 1, 2020, and extend up until the present; and 

f. If you determine that there exist documents which are described 

in this FOIA request but which you decide to not disclose, a 

description of such document(s), the reasons for your non-

disclosure decision, and any documents relied upon or that may be 

relied upon to make that decision. 
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A true and correct copy of the 2021 FOIA Request is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

16. As noted above, Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request seeks additional 

categories of documents including those outlined in subsections “d” through “f” of 

paragraph 15 above.  These documents are necessary so that Plaintiffs may adequately 

address and respond to the IRS’s concerns and inquiries.  In response to subsection 

“e” of paragraph 15 above, in a letter dated April 23, 2021, Defendant, on behalf of 

TIGTA, requested a 10-business-day extension to respond to that request.  A true and 

correct copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.  On May 25, 2021, Defendant 

produced approximately 250 pages of documents in response to subsection “e” of 

paragraph 15 above; however, these are the only documents that Plaintiffs have 

received, and Plaintiffs do not believe that this production includes all documents 

responsive the request. 

17. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), Defendant was required to 

determine whether to comply with Plaintiffs’ request within twenty (20) working days 

after Defendant’s receipt of Plaintiffs’ FOIA request (i.e., by April 21, 2021), and to 

notify Plaintiffs immediately of its determination, the reasons therefor, and the right 

to appeal any adverse determination.   

18. In a letter dated April 21, 2021, Defendant acknowledged receipt of 

Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request and assigned it case number 2021-11216.  A true and 

correct copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 5.  In its April 21, 2021 letter, 

Defendant notified Plaintiffs that it had extended the statutory response deadline date 

to May 5, 2021, and also requested a further extension until June 22, 2021.   

19. In a letter dated June 21, 2021, Defendant requested a third extension 

until September 21, 2021 to respond to Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request.  A true and 

correct copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

20. In a letter dated September 17, 2021, Defendant requested a fourth 

extension until December 21, 2021 to respond to Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request.  A 

true and correct copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 
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21. In addition to the requests for extensions of time by letter, Defendant has 

called Plaintiffs’ counsel no less than two times to request extensions. 

22. As of the date of this Complaint, Defendant has failed to produce all of 

the requested records in response to the 2021 FOIA Request or otherwise demonstrate 

that the requested records are exempt from production. 

23. Because Defendant has failed to comply with the time limit set forth in 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), Plaintiffs are deemed to have exhausted any and all 

administrative remedies with respect to Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request, pursuant to 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C). 

COUNT 1 

(Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552) 

24. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 22 as if fully stated herein.  

Defendant is unlawfully withholding records requested by Plaintiffs pursuant to 

5 U.S.C. § 552. 

25. Plaintiffs are being irreparably harmed by reason of Defendant’s 

unlawful withholding of records responsive to Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request, and 

will continue to be irreparably harmed unless Defendant is compelled to conform its 

conduct to the requirements of the law. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:  

1. Order Defendant to conduct searches for any and all records responsive 

to Plaintiffs’ 2021 FOIA Request and demonstrate that it employed search methods 

reasonably likely to lead to the discovery of records responsive to Plaintiffs’ 2021 

FOIA Request;  

2. Provide for expeditious proceedings in this action, including an order 

that Defendant produce, by a date certain, any and all records responsive to Plaintiffs’ 

2021 FOIA Request;  

/ / / 
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3. Award Plaintiffs their attorney’s fees and other costs reasonably incurred 

in this action, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E); and  

4. Grant Plaintiffs such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
LiMANDRI & JONNA LLP 

 

 
Dated:  October 8, 2021                By:          
 Paul J. Dostart 

Paul M. Jonna 
Mark D. Myers 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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- -
I DOSTART 

HANNI�� &
COVENEY 
LLP 

VIA U.S. CERTIFIED MAIL 

March 4, 2019 

Tracking Number: 7017 1450 0002 0046 8829 

Internal Revenue Service 
Disclosure Scanning Operation - Stop 93A 
PO Box 621506 
Atlanta, GA 30362 

4180 LA JOLLA VILLAGE DRIVE, SUITE 530 
LA JOLLA, CALIFORNIA 92037-1474 

TELEPHONE: 858-623-4200 
FAX: 858-623-4299 

PAULJ. DOSTART 

DIRECT DIAL 858-623-4210 
E-MAIL: PAUL.DOSTART@SDLAW.COM

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request (2nd version) 
Case Number: F19036-0048 
Your Reference-TEGE EO 7982 
Free Sacred Trinity Church (EIN: ) 
Optimum Health Institute - San Diego (EIN: ) 
Optimum Health Institute-Austin (EIN: ) 

Dear Disclosure Manager: 

This is a request under the Freedom oflnformation Act ("FOIA"). This is materially 
the same as my FOIA request dated February 3, 2019, copies of which were sent to Internal 
Revenue Agent Evangeline Lowrey and Acting Commissioner Tax Exempt and Government 
Entities Division David W. Horton. This letter includes an original, wet-ink signature in 
response to your letter dated February 14,2019 (which was post-marked February 25,2019), 
a copy of which is enclosed for your ease of reference. Please confirm by fax 
(858-623-4299) or telephone (to me at 858-623-4210, or to my paralegal 
at 858-623-4260) that this signature is sufficient to process this FOIA request.

Pursuant to FOIA, I respectfully request that copies of all documents 1 falling within 
the description below and relating to my clients, Free Sacred Trinity Church ("FSTC"), and 
to FSTC's two subordinate organizations (Optimum Health Institute - San Diego 
(EIN: ) ("OHi-SD") and Optimum Health Institute-Austin (EIN: ) 
("OHi-A")), be provided to me. I do not wish to inspect the documents first. The documents 
I am requesting include: 

1 For the purposes of this request, "document" is intended to have the broadest possible meaning and includes 
any writing or recorded matter of every kind or description, however produced or reproduced, including but 
not limited to: letters, correspondence, memoranda, notes, emails, spreadsheets, summaries, reports, electronic 
data, discs or other magnetic storage devices, faxes. and electronic file notes. 
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DOSTART 
HANNINK & 

COVENEY 
LLP 

4· 180 LA JOLLA VILLAGE DRIVE, SUITE 530 
LA JOLLA, CALIFORNIA 92037-14-74 

TELEPHONE: 858-623-4·200 
FAX: 858-623-4·299 

PAUL J. DOST ART 
DIRECT DIAL 858-623-4·2 10 

E-MAIL: PAUL.DOSTART@SDLA W.COM 

March 12, 2021 

VIA FACSIMILE AND U.S.P.S. PRIORITY 
TRACKED MAIL 
Tracking Number: 9405 5036 9930 0316 5250 43 
Fax: 877-891-6035 

Internal Revenue Service 
Central Processing Unit 
Stop 93A 
Post Office Box 621506 
Atlanta, GA 30362 

With Copies by Email to: 
Email: Stephanie.A.Sasarak@usdoj .gov 

Stephanie Sasarak 
Trial Attorney 
U.S. Department of Justice, Tax Division 
Eastern Region 
P.O. Box 227, Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, DC 20044 

Email: Evangeline.Lowrey@irs.gov 

Evangeline Lowrey, Revenue Agent 
Tax Exempt & Government Entities 
Internal Revenue Service 
450 Golden Gate Avenue, MS 7401 
San Francisco, CA 94102 

Re: Freedom of Information Act Request (Renewal and Expansion) 
Case Number: F19071-0040 
Tax Court Case Number: 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB 
Free Sacred Trinity Church (EIN: 31-1720683) 
Optimum Health Institute- San Diego (EIN: 71-0895144) 
Optimum Health Institute- Austin (EIN: 74-2945511) 

Dear Disclosure Manager: 

This letter renews and expands upon my previous request under the Freedom of 
Information Act ("FOIA") dated March 4, 2019 (Case Number F19071-0040). The 
documents outlined in this FOIA request are similar to (and in some cases materially the 
same as) the documents outlined in my previous FOIA request, except with respect to the 
period covered. 
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OOSTART 
HANNINK& 
CO~ENEY 
LLP 

Internal Revenue Service 
Re: Freedom of Information Act Request (Renewal and Expansion) 

Case Number: F19071-0040 
Free Sacred Trinity Church v. IRS (S.D. Ca.) 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB 

Free Sacred Trinity Church (EIN: 31-1720683) 
Optimum Health Institute- San Diego (EIN: 71-0895144) 

Optimum Health Institute- Austin (EIN: 74-2945511) 
March 12, 2021 

Page2 

Pursuant to FOIA, I respectfully request that copies of all documents1 falling within 
the description below and relating to my clients, Free Sacred Trinity Church ("FSTC"), and 
to FSTC's two subordinate organizations (Optimum Health Institute - San Diego 
(EIN: 71-0895144) ("OHI-SD") and Optimum Health Institute- Austin (EIN: 74-2945511) 
("OHI-A")), be provided to me if such documents (as to items 1 to 4, inclusive) were 
prepared or are dated during the period beginning March 4, 2019, up until the date on which 
you provide your final batch of documents to me relating to this request. I do not wish to 
inspect the documents first. The documents I am requesting include: 

1. The IRS ' s entire file (including, without limitation, its administrative file), 
that may or does relate to the IRS Inquiries (as defined below), including, 
without limitation: 

a. All intra-IRS correspondence and referrals; 

b. All inter-agency correspondence and referrals; 

c. All inter-governmental entity (e.g., state governmental entity) 
correspondence and referrals; and 

d. All whistleblower filings or public complaints howsoever documented 
and regardless of whether on Form 211, Form 13909, or otherwise; 

2. All other documents in the IRS's possession that may or do relate to the IRS 
Inquiries, including any documents showing how the IRS reached a decision, 
or contributed to the IRS ' s decision, to raise the IRS Inquiries; 

3. All documents provided to, made available to, seen by, referred to, or 
otherwise provided for use or used, in any manner by the applicable 
high-level Treasury official (as that phrase is used in IRC section 7611(a)(2)), 
in forming a reasonable belief on the basis of facts and circumstances 
recorded in writing to justify the IRS examination of any, some, or all of 
FSTC, OHI-SD, and/or OHI-A; 

1 For the purposes ofthis request, "document" is intended to have the broadest possible meaning and 
includes any writing or recorded matter of every kind or description, however produced or 
reproduced, including but not limited to: letters, correspondence, memoranda, notes, emails, 
spreadsheets, summaries, reports, electronic data, discs or other magnetic storage devices, faxes, and 
electronic file notes. 
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DOS TA RT 
HANNINK & 

COVENEY 
Ll P 

4. 

5. 

6. 

Internal Revenue Service 
Re: Freedom of Information Act Request (Renewal and Expansion) 

Case Number: F 19071-0040 
Free Sacred Trinity Church v. IRS (S.D. Ca.) 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB 

Free Sacred Trinity Church (EIN: 31-1720683) 
Optimum Health Institute- San Diego (EIN: 71-0895144) 

Optimum Health Institute- Austin (EIN: 74-2945511) 
March 12, 2021 

Page 3 

All other documents in the IRS's possession that may or do relate to or show 
how the IRS reached a decision, or contributed to the IRS's decision, to issue 
the two initial reports of examination issued to me under cover of letter dated 
January 21 , 2021 ; 

Independently, I am also requesting all documents that relate to the inquiry 
or investigation of Paul J. Dostart by the Office of Treasury Inspector General 
for Tax Administration ("TIGTA"), and/or which relate in any manner to the 
interview of Paul J. Dostart by TIGTA agents on May 14, 2020, and which 
documents were created on or after January 1, 2020, and extend up until the 
present.2 For the avoidance of doubt, we are of the view that such inquiry or 
investigation, and interview, manifested an abuse of authority by IRS 
representatives and were a blatant attempt to intimidate taxpayer counsel 
using extortion or willful oppression in order to unlawfully secure a 
concession from the taxpayer (FSTC, OHI-San Diego and OHI-Austin), and 
in that regard, our request for documents expressly includes all documents 
which evidence any other actions or follow-up that was identified or 
recommended by TIGTA, regardless of whether IRC § 7214 was expressly 
identified in any such follow-up documentation; and 

If you determine that there exist documents which are described in this FOIA 
request but which you decide to not disclose, a description of such 
document(s), the reasons for your non-disclosure decision, and any 
documents relied upon or that may be relied upon to make that decision. 

My preference is to download these documents from a secure electronic document 
repository system. If a USB stick or DVD is more convenient for you, that is satisfactory to 
me; if possible, I would prefer to receive the documents in an electronic format. 

In order to determine my status for the applicability of fees, I am an attorney 
representing FSTC and its two integrated auxiliaries in relation to the IRS ' s line of inquiries 
("IRS Inquiries") regarding FSTC's tax-exempt status. The IRS Inquiries came to my 
attention by a letter dated October 29, 2018, with a description of the IRS's concerns 
regarding FSTC' s status, including the following: "Our concern is that your program is being 
operated more than insubstantially for commercial purposes, which raises concerns about 
[the IRS ' s] continuing recognition of [FSTC] as an organization described in section 

2 The TIGTA Special Agents who conducted such interview were Cindy Niu and Salvador Correa. 
For the avoidance of doubt, Ms. Niu and Mr. Correa acted with professionalism at all times. 
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OOSTART 
H/\NNINK & 
COVENEY 
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Internal Revenue Service 
Re: Freedom of Information Act Request (Renewal and Expansion) 

Case Number: F19071-0040 
Free Sacred Trinity Church v. IRS (S.D. Ca.) 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB 

Free Sacred Trinity Church (EIN: 31-1720683) 
Optimum Health Institute- San Diego (EIN: 71-0895144) 

Optimum Health Institute- Austin (EIN: 74-2945511) 
March 12, 2021 

Page4 

50l(c)(3) ... " In order to fully address and provide responses to the IRS ' s concerns, we 
would like to understand what caused the IRS to begin the IRS Inquiries. 

In addition, I am the attorney of record in Southern District of California Case 
Number 3:19-cv-02358-W-JLB, which case was filed after the IRS failed to timely respond 
to my March 4, 2019, FOIA request. I represent plaintiffs FSTC and OHI-SD in that case. 
Documents that are in the district court's document index are exempt from this request and 
do not need to be provided. 

As proof of identity I am including copies of the Form 2848 powers of attorney for 
FSTC, OHI-SD, and OHI-A. I am also attaching a copy of my California State Bar 
membership page and a copy of my California driver's license. 

I am willing to pay document production fees for this request up to a maximum of 
$2,500, if there are fees payable even though I am the authorized representative of FSTC 
(and of its two integrated auxiliaries), the church that is being harassed by the IRS Inquiries, 
and of course, I am personally the attorney who was illegally harassed by the TIGTA 
interview. If you estimate that the fees you propose to assess will exceed this limit, please 
inform me first (858-623-4210). Please also contact me as necessary to resolve any issues, 
clarify the scope of this request, or help identify a specific document containing the 
information sought. 

cc: Robert P. Nees, Ecclesiastical Superior 
Christopher Rizek, Esq. 
Meghan Biss, Esq. 

943060.1 
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ISA 

Form 2848 Power of Attorney 
and Declaration of Representative (Rev. January 2018) 

Department of the Treasury 
Internal Revenue Service .,.. Go to www.Jrs.gov/Form2848 for Instructions and the latest Information. 

Power of Attorney 

OMB No. 1545-0150 

For IRS Use Only 

Received by: 

Name 

Telephone ___ _ 

Caution: A separate Form 2848 must be completed for each taxpayer. Form 2848 will not be honored 
for any purpose other than representation before the IRS. 

Function-- ---
Date 

Taxpayer Information. Taxpayer must sign and date this form on page 2, line 7. 

Taxpayer name and address Taxpayer identification number(s) 
Free Sacred Trinity Church 31 1720683 
2305 Historic Decatur Rd., Ste 10 1 !-'::!-'-:+=~:c=:-:-----,---.,-;:,---.....,--;;;-~'7'7"c---
San Diego, CA 92106-6071 Daytime telephone number Plan number Qt applicable) 

hereby appoints the following representatlve(s) as atlorney(s)-ln-fact: 

2 Representatlve(s) must sign and date this form on page 2, Part II. 

Name and address 

Paul J. Dostart 
CAF No. ~9.Q?.:J.~Q?}~----------------------------.. 
PTIN P-9.!~~1~~-~--------------------------------------

4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. .(_~~-n§~_:?:!!~!.Q _________ ________ __ 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. ~?.n£?.~:1?.~2--------------------------.. 
Check if to be sent copies of notices and communications IX) Check If new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. ?.Q9..?.:4.~?.!.~B------------------------------
Christopher S. Rizek PTIN f9J.1?}.Q~-~--------------------------------------
Caplin & Drysdale, Chtd., 1 Thomas C ircle NW, Ste. 1100 Telephone No. Q9.~H§.~:-~?-~.f. ________ _________ __ 
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. Q9.~H~-~=~~-Q_l__ __________________________ . 
Check If to be sent copies of notices and communications ~ Check if new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. 9.~U:~-~H.QB ______________________________ . 
Meghan R. Biss PTIN f9J._!~_7.Q9.:? ______ ______________________ ________ __ 
Caplin & Drysdale, Chtd. , I Thomas Circle NW, Ste. 1100 Telephone No. Q9..~H§?:1~§-~------------------.. 
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. 17.9.~11~2=~~-Q_L ______________________ __ __ 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check If new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. ~Q.Q9..:?.H1J,8. ______________________________ . 
Kenneth G. Coveney PTIN f9..Q.~1_~.n_~--------------------------------------
4180 L a Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. .(_~~-H<:!7.~:.47.~_Q ____________________ . 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. .{_~?-~)_§?.~:1~~.2 ........................... . 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check if new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
to represent the taxpayer before the Internal Revenue Service and perform the following acts: 

3 Acts authorized (you ana required to complete this line 3). Wth the exception of the acts described In line 5b, I authorize my representative(s) to receive and 

Inspect my confidential tax Information and to perform acts \hat I can perform with respect to the tax matters described below. For example, my represenlative(s) 
shall have the authority to sign any agr.eements, consents, or similar documents (see Instructions for line Sa for authorizing a representative to sign a relurn). 

Description of Matter Qncome, Employment, Payroll. Excise, Estate, Gift, Wlistleblower, 
Tax Form Number Year(s) or Period(s) Qf applicable) 

Practitioner llsclpllne, PLR, FOJA Civil Penalty, Sec. 500JA Shared Responsibility (1040, 941, 720, etc.) (if applicable) (see Instructions) 
Payment, Sec. 4980H Shared Responsibility Payment, etc.) (see instructions) 

Tax-Exempt Status and Examination Form 990 2016- 2021 

Group Exemption Form 990 2016-2021 

4 Specific use not recorded on Centralized Authorization File (CAF). If the power of attorney Is for a specific use not recorded on CAF, 
check this box. See the Instructions for Line 4. Specific Use Not Recorded on CAF . . . . . . .,.. 0 

Sa Additional acts authorized. In addition to the acts listed on line 3 above, I authorize my representative(s) to perform the following acts (see 
Instructions for line 5a for more Information): 0 Access my IRS records via an Intermediate Service Provider: 

0 Authorize disclosure to third parties; lXI Substitute or add representatlve(s): 0 Sign a return; 

0 Other acts authorized: -------------------------------------------------------------------

For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions. Form 2848 (Rev.1-2018) 
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Form 2848 (Rev. 1-2018) Page 2 

b Specific acts not authorized. My representatlve(s) is (are) not authorized to endorse or otherwise negotiate any check ~ncluding directing or 
accepting payment by any means, electronic or otherwise, into an account owned or controlled by the representative(s) or any firm or other 
entity with whom the representative(s) is (are) associated) issued by the government in respect of a federal tax liability. 

List any other specific deletions to the acts otherwise authorized in this power of attorney (see Instructions for line 5b): •........•••.••••••.•••••..••. 

6 Retention/revocation of prior power(s) of attorney. The filing of this power of attorney automatically revokes ali earlier power(s) of 
attorney on file with the Internal Revenue Service for the same matters and years or periods covered by this document. If you do not want 
to revoke a prior power of attorney, check here . . . . . ~ 0 
YOU MUST ATTACH A COPY OF ANY POWER OF ATTORNEY YOU WANT TO REMAIN IN EFFECT. 

7 Signature of taxpayer. If a tax matter concerns a year in which a joint return was filed , each spouse must file a separate power of attorney 
even if they are appointing the same representative(s). If signed by a corporate officer, partner, guardian, tax matters partner, partnership 
representative, executor, receiver, administrator, or trustee on behalf of the taxpayer, I certify that I have the legal authority to execute this form 
on behalf of the taxpayer. 

Ill-IF NOT COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND DATED, THE IRS WILL RETURN THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY TO THE TAXPAYER. 

Signature 

\\j 1)-[ ..... . ....... 1.~---· 
Date 

........................ R~_y,_RQ\?.~ttP..J~{~~L...................... . ................................ Er~-~-~-l!~X~~Lil~l!)J!Y..~~-~r£~ ................................ . 
Print Name Print name of taxpayer from line 1 if other than individual 

1@111 Declaration of Representative 
Under penalties of perjury, by my signature below I declare that: 

• I am not currently suspended or disbarred from practice, or ineligible for practice, before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am subject to regulations contained in Circular 230 (31 CFR. Subtitle A, Part 10), as amended, governing practice before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am authorized to represent the taxpayer identified in Part I for the matter(s) specified there; and 

• I am one of the following: 

a Attorney-a member in good standing of the bar of the highest court of the jurisdiction shown below. 

b Certified Public Accountanl- a holder of an active license to practice as a certified public accountant in the jurisdiction shown below. 

c Enrolled Agent-enrolled as an agent by the Internal Revenue Service per the requiremenls of Circular 230. 

d Officer-a bona fide officer of the taxpayer organization. 

e Full-Time Employee-a full-time employee of the taxpayer. 

f Family Member-a member of the taxpayer's immediale family (spouse, parent, child, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, step-child, brother, or sister). 
g Enrolled Actuary-enrolled as an actuary by the Joint Board for the Enrollment of Actuaries under 29 U.S.C. 1242 (the authority to practice before 

the Internal Revenue Service is limited by section 10.3(d)of Circular 230). 

h Unenrolled Return Preparer-Authority to practice before the IRS is limited. An unenrolled return preparer may represent, provided the preparer (1) 
prepared and signed the return or claim for refund (or prepared if there is no signature space on the form); (2) was eligible to sign the return or 
claim fo r refund; (3) has a valid PTIN; and (4) possesses the required Annual Filing Season Program Record of Completion(s). See Special Rules 
and Requirements for Unenrol/ed Return Preparers In the Instructions for additional Information. 

k Qualifying Student-receives permission to represent taxpayers before the IRS by virtue of his/her status as a law, business, or accounting student 
working in an LITC or STCP. See instructions for Part II for additional information and requirements. 

r Enrolled Retirement Plan Agent-enrolled as a retirement plan agent under the requirements of Circular 230 (the authority to practice before the 
Internal Revenue Service is limited by section 1 0.3(e)). 

Ill- IF THIS DECLARATION OF REPRESENTATIVE IS NOT COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND DATED, THE IRS WILL RETURN THE 
POWER OF ATTORNEY. REPRESENTATIVES MUST SIGN IN THE ORDER LISTED IN PART I, LINE 2. 

Note: For designations d-f, enter your title, position, or relationship to the taxpayer in the "Licensing jurisd iction" column. 

Designation­
Insert above 
letter (a-r). 

a 

a 

a 

a 

Licensing jurisdiction 
(State) or other 

licensing authority 
Of applicable). 

CA 

DC 

DC 

CA 

Bar, license, certification, 
registration, or enrollment 

number Of applicable). 

081841 

370796 

1602518 

053350 

Date 

Form 2848 (Rev. 1-2018) 
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ISA 

Form 2848 Power of Attorney 
and Declaration of Representative 

.,.. Go to www.irs.gov/Form2848 for Instructions and the latest Information. 

Power of Attorney 
Caution: A separate Form 2848 must be completed for each taxpayer. Form 2848 will not be honored 
for any purpose other than representation before the IRS. 

Taxpayer Information. Taxpayer must sign and date this form on page 2, line 7. 

Taxpayer name and address Taxpayer identificat ion number(s) 

71-0895144 

OMB No. 1545-0150 

For IRS Use Only 

Received by: 

Name 
Telephone ___ _ 

· Function ___ _ 

Date 

Optimum Health Institute - San D iego 
6970 Central A venue 
Lemon Grove, CA 91945 Daytime telephone number Plan number (if app licable) 

hereby appoints the following representative(s) as attorney(s)-ln-fact: 

2 Representative(s) must sign and date this form on page 2, Part II. 

Name and address CAF No. 29.Q?..:1§Q?}B· ______________________________ _ 
Paul J. Dostart PTIN P.!>-!n4.n_? ________ _____________________________ _ 
4 180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. {.~?-~Hi~-~:.17..!Q .................. . 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. (~?-~).~?-~~!!?.?.?. ........................... . 
Check If to be sent copies of notices and communications IXJ Check If new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. ?.QQ?.:4.~?.!.~!L __ _________________________ _ 
Christopher S. Rizek PTIN P.Q!!!?}Q~-~---------·------------------ ---- - -----
Caplin & D1ysdale, Chtd., 1 Thomas Circle NW, Ste. 1100 Telephone No. ~9-~)Jg_~:~?-~L------------ -----
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. ~9lH?.?.:-?.~_Q_L __ ________ ________ _______ . 
Check If to be sent copies of notices and communications ~ Check if new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. Q~.D.:?.~HQB-.............................. . 
Meghan R. B iss PTIN P.Q~J?.7~!>-f ..................................... . 
Caplin & Drysdale, Chtd., I Thomas Circle NW, Ste. 1100 Telephone No. (~9.?H9.?~.?~9-~-----·---- - - --- -- - -· 
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. {.~9.fH?.?:?.~_Q_I _____ _________ ______ _______ _ 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check if new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
Name and address CAF No. 29.QQ:?.~H.!B. ______________________ ________ _ 
Kenneth G . Coveney PTIN P.9.9~~-~n? _________________ ___________ _________ _ 
4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. .L~?.n~7..~:.4.7.1.Q ___________________ _ 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. (~?-~)-~??.~!!?.?.?. .......................... . 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check If new: Address 0 Telephone No. 0 Fax No. 0 
to represent the taxpayer before the Internal Revenue Service and perform the following acts: 

3 Acts authorized (you are required to complete this line 3). Wth the exception of the acts described In line 5b, I authorize my representative(s) to receive and 
Inspect my confidential tax information and to perform acts that I can perform with respect to the tax matters described below. For example, my representatlve(s) 
shall have the authority to sign any agreements, consents, or similar documents (see instructions for line 5a for authorizing a representative to sign a return). 

Description of Matter Qncome, Employment, Payroll, Excise, Estate, ~ft. 1/\hlstleblower, 
Tax Form Number Year(s) or Period(s) Of applicable) 

Practitioner Discipline, PLR, FOIA Civil Penalty, Sec. 5000A Shared Responsibility 
Payment, Sec. 4980H Shared Responsibility Payment, etc.) (see instructions) 

(1040, 941, 720, etc.) Of applicable) (see Instructions) 

Tax-Exemp t Status and Examination Form 990 2016 - 2021 

Group Exem p tion Form 990 2016-2021 

4 Specific use not recorded on Centralized Authorization File (CAF). If the power of attorney is for a specific use not recorded on CAF, 
check this box. See the instructions for Line 4. Specific Use Not Recorded on CAF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .,.. 0 

5a Additional acts authorized. In addition to the acts listed on line 3 above, I authorize my representative(s) to perform the following acts (see 
Instructions for line 5a for more information): 0 Access my IRS records via an Intermediate Service Provider; 

0 Authorize disclosure to third parties; !XI Substitute or add representative(s); 0 Sign a return; 

0 Other acts authorized: -------------------------------------------------------------------------

For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions. Form 2848 (Rev.1-2018) 
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·. 
Form 2848 (Rev. 1-2018) Page 2 

b Specific acts not aut horized. My representative(s) is (are) not authorized to endorse or otherwise negotiate any check Onclud ing directing or 
accepting payment by any means, electronic or otherwise, into an account owned or controlled by the representative(s) or any firm or other 
entity with whom the representative(s) is (are) associated) Issued by the government in respect of a federal tax liability. 

List any other specific deletions to the acts otherwise authorized in this power of attorney (see Instructions for line 5b): ----------------------········ 

6 Retention/revocation of prio r power(s) of attorney. The filing of this power of attorney automatically revokes all earlier power(s) of 
attorney on file with the Internal Revenue Service for the same matters and years or periods covered by this document. If you do not want 
to revoke a prior power of attorney, check here . ,.. 0 
YOU MUST ATTACH A COPY OF ANY POWER OF ATTORNEY YOU WANT TO REM AIN IN EFFECT. 

7 Signature of taxpayer. If a tax matter concerns a year in which a joint return was filed , each spouse must file a separate power of attorney 
even if they are appointing the same representative(s). If signed by a corporate officer, partner, guardian, tax matters partner, partnership 
representative, executor, receiver, administrator, or trustee on behalf of the taxpayer, I certify that I have the legal authority to execute this form 
on behalf of the taxpayer. 

-- -- : IF~:i:::~".:' THEI~:_:;_~_::::N~:~~-·~:::~·:~~::::y~:-~:~_T:~-~Y-E_R_ 
Signature Date Title Of applicable) 

----------------- ------_!~~-y,_B.9.!?.~!tP.-.~~~~---········· ··········· · .......................... QP-!Y1.}~!l:l . .li~Att.l}_!!!~!i~J.~.: -~-~!!.Qi~_gQ _____________ ___ ___ _____ _ 
Print Name Print name of taxpayer from line 1 If other than individual 

1@111 Declaration of Representative 
Under penalties of perjury, by my signature below I declare that: 

• I am not current ly suspended or disbarred from practice, or Ineligible for practice, before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am subject to regulations contained in Circular 230 (31 CFR, Subtitle A, Part 10), as amended, governing practice before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am authorized to represent the taxpayer identified In Part I for the matter(s) specified there; and 

• I am one of the following: 

a Attorney-a member In good standing of the bar of the highest court of the jurisdiction shown below. 

b Certified Public Accountant-a holder of an active license to practice as a certified public accountant in the jurisd iction shown below. 

c Enrolled Agent-enrolled as an agent by the Internal Revenue Service per the requirements of Circular 230. 

d Officer-a bona fide officer of the taxpayer organization. 

e Full-Time Employee-a full-time employee of the taxpayer. 

f Family Member-a member of the taxpayer's immediate family (spouse, parent, child, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, step-child, brother, or sister). 
g Enrolled Actuary-enrolled as an actuary by the Joint Board for the Enrollment of Actuaries under 29 U.S.C. 1242 (the authority to practice before 

the Internal Revenue Service is limited by section 10.3(d) of Circular 230). 
h Unenrolled Return Preparer-Authority to practice before the IRS is limited. An unenrolled return preparer may represent, provided the preparer (1 ) 

prepared and signed the return or claim for refund (or prepared if there is no signature space on the form); (2) was eligible to sign the return or 
claim for refund; (3) has a valid PTIN; and (4) possesses the required Annual Filing Season Program Record of Completion(s). See Spec/a/ Rules 
and Requirements for Unenrol/ed Return Preparers In the Instructions for addi tional information. 

k Qualifying Student- receives permission to represent taxpayers before the IRS by virtue of his/her status as a law, business, or account ing student 
working in an LITC or STCP. See instructions for Part II for additional information and requirements. 

r Enrolled Retirement Plan Agent-enrolled as a retirement plan agent under the requirements of Circular 230 (the authority to practice before the 
Internal Revenue Service is limited by section 10.3(e)) . 

..... IF THIS DECLARATION OF REPRESENTATIVE IS NOT COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND DATED, THE IRS WILL RETURN THE 
POWER OF ATTORNEY. REPRESENTATIVES MUST SIGN IN THE ORDER LISTED IN PART I, LIN E 2. 

Note: For designations d-f, enter your title, position, or relationship to the taxpayer in the "Licensing jurisdiction" column. 

Designation-
Licensing jurisdiction 

Bar, license, certification, 
Insert above 

(State) or other registration, or enrollment Date 
letter (a-1'). 

licensing authority number Of applicable). Of applicable). 

a CA 081841 

a DC 370796 

a DC 1602518 

a CA 053350 

Form 2848 (Rev. 1·2018) 
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ISA 

Form 2848 Power of Attorney 
and Declaration of Representative 

.,. Go to www.lrs.gov/Form2848 for Instructions and the latest Information. 

Power of Attorney 

OMB No. 1545-0150 

For IRS Use Only 
Received by: 

Name 
Telephone ___ _ 

Caution: A separate Form 2848 must be completed for each taxpayer. Form 2848 will not be honored 
for any purpose other than representation before the IRS. 

Function ____ _ 

Date 
Taxpayer Information. Taxpayer must sign and date this form on page 2, line 7. 

Taxpayer name and address Taxpayer identification number(s) 
Optimum Health Institute- Austin 74-2945511 
265 Cedar Lane f-=''-7.'-.!..:::7'7.:....,----;----.=::----:--;;;---;;-~:-:--
Cedar Creek, TX 78612 Daytime telephone number Pian number (if applicable) 

hereby appoints the following representative(s) as attorney(s)-ln-fact: 

2 Representatlve(s) must sign and date this form on page 2, Part II. 

Name and address CAF No. ~9.Q?.:J§Q?.~B. .............................. . 
Paul J. Dostatt PTIN rQH~4.:n.? ..................................... . 
4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. (.~?-~)J~n:1~.!Q .................. . 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. .L~~-~)-~??.:g?2 ........................... . 
Check If to be sent copies of notices and communications lXI Check If new: Address D Telephone No. D Fax No. D 
Name and address CAF No. ?_QQ~.:·t~?.H!L ........................... . 
Christopher S. Rizek PTIN P.9.!1?}_Q~J .................................... . 
Cap) in & Drysdale, Chtd., 1 Thomas Circle NW, Ste. 11 00 Telephone No. (.~9-~)..!!.§.~:-~?-~~-----········· · ···· 
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. Q9.~11?2:1~_Q.L ......................... . 
Check If to be sent copies of notices and communications mJ Check if new: Address D Telephone No. D Fax No. D 
Name and address CAF No. Q.~n.:?~H.QB-. ............................. . 
Meghan R. Biss PTIN P.9.~.l?.7J!9~---··············· ·· ·················· 
Caplin & Drysdale, Chtd., 1 Thomas Circle NW, Ste. 1100 Telephone No. QQ.~H§.~.:-.7~§_(!._ ________________ _ 
Washington, DC 20005 Fax No. (~9-~H~-~=l~.QL ......................... . 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check if new: Address D Telephone No. D Fax No. D 
Name and address CAF No. ~Q.QQ.:?.~HJR. ............................. . 
Kenneth G. Coveney PTIN P.Q.Q~~}n? ..................................... . 
4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530 Telephone No. .(~?-~)_(i£~:.4.f~.Q ................... . 
La Jolla, CA 92037 Fax No. (.~?-~)J!?.~.:-1~?2 ........................... . 
(Note: IRS sends notices and communications to only two representatives.) Check if new: Address D Telephone No. D Fax No. D 
to represent the taxpayer before the Internal Revenue Service and perform the following acts: 

3 Acts authorized (you are required to complete this line 3). 'Mth the exception of the acts described In line Sb, I authorize my representative(s) to receive and 
inspect my confidential tax Information and to perform acts that I can perform with respect to the tax matters described below. For example, my representative(s) 
shall have the authority to sign any agreements, consents, or similar documents (see instructions for line Sa for authorizing a representative to sign a return~ 

Description of Matter Qncome, Employment, Payroll, Excise, EState, Gift, Wlistleblower, Tax Form Number Year(s) or Period(s) Of applicable) 
Practitioner Discipline, PLR. FOIA. Civil Penalty, Sec. 5000ASha'ed Responsibility 

(1040, 941, 720, etc.) Of applicable) (see Instructions) 
Payment, Sec. 4980H Shared Responsibility Payment, etc.) (see Instructions) 

Tax-Exempt Status and Examination F01m 990 2016 - 2021 

Group Exemption Form 990 2016 - 2021 

4 Specific use not recorded on Centralized Authorization File (CAF). If the power of attorney is for a specific use not recorded on CAF, 
check this box. See the instructions for Line 4. Specific Use Not Recorded on CAF . . . . . . ,... 0 

6a Additional acts authorized. In addition to the acts listed on line 3 above, I authorize my representative(s) to perform the following acts (see 
Instructions for line Sa for more information): D Access my IRS records via an Intermediate Service Provider; 

D Authorize disclosure to third parties; !XI Substitute or add representative(s); D Sign a return; 

D Other acts authorized: --------------------------------------

For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions. Form 2848 (Rev.1 -2016) 
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Form 2848 (Rev. 1-2018) Page 2 

b Specific acts not authorized. My representative(s) Is (are) not authorized to endorse or otherwise negotiate any check Oncluding directing or 
accepting payment by any means, electronic or otherwise, into an account owned or controlled by the representative(s) or any firm or other 
entity with whom the representative(s) is (are) associated) issued by the government in respect of a federal tax liability. 

List any other specific deletions to the acts otherwise authorized in this power of attorney (see instructions for line 5b): ............................. . 

6 Retention/revocation of prior power(s) of attorney. The filing of this power of attorney automatically revokes all earlier power(s) of 
attorney on file with the Internal Revenue Service for the same matters and years or periods covered by this document. If you do not want 
to revoke a prior power of attorney, check here . ~ 0 
YOU MUST ATTACH A COPY OF ANY POWER OF ATTORNEY YOU WANT TO REMAIN IN EFFECT. 

7 Signature of taxpayer. If a tax matter concerns a year in which a joint return was filed , each spouse must file a separate power of attorney 
even if they are appointing the same representative(s). If signed by a corporate officer, partner, guardian, tax matters partner, partnership 
representative, executor, receiver, administrator, or trustee on behalf of the taxpayer, I certify that I have the legal authority to execute this form 
on behalf of the taxpayer . 

.... IF NOT COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND DATED, THE IRS WILL RETURN THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY TO THE TAXPAYER. 

CEO ---- .... ---------.... --........................ .. .. .. ---.......... --.. -----.. -.. .... -- .. .. ...... ---.. -- .. .. .... . 
Title Of applicable) 

______ _______________ ___ R.~_y,_RQ~-~!1.P.. .. N~~~-----·--------------·--- __________________________ .. 9..PJirrw.~.H~1!J!hJ.J)_~tlt.l1!~_.:-_A.ll.:s.tiD ___________________________ __ 
Print Name Print name of taxpayer from line 1 If other than individual 

1@111 Declaration of Representative 
Under penalties of perjury, by my signature below I declare that: 

• I am not currently suspended or disbarred from practice, or ineligible for practice, before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am subject to regulations contained In Circular 230 (31 CFR, Subtitle A, Part 10), as amended, governing practice before the Internal Revenue Service; 

• I am authorized to represent the taxpayer identified in Part I for the matter(s) specified there; and 

• I am one of the following: 

a Attorney- a member in good standing of the bar of the highest court of the jurisdiction shown below. 

b Certif ied Public Accountant-a holder of an active license to practice as a certified public accountant in the jurisdiction shown below. 

c Enrolled Agent-enrolled as an agent by the Internal Revenue Service per the requirements of Circular 230. 

d Officer-a bona fide officer of the taxpayer organization. 

e Full-Time Employee-a full-time employee of the taxpayer. 

f Family Member-a member of the taxpayer's immediate family (spouse, parent, child, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, step-child, brother, or sister). 
g Enrolled Actuary-enrolled as an actuary by the Joint Board for the Enrollment of Actuaries under 29 U.S.C. 1242 (the authority to practice before 

the Internal Revenue Service Is limited by section 10.3(d) of Circular 230). 
h Unenrolled Return Preparer-Authority to practice before the IRS Is limited. An unenrolled return preparer may represent, provided the preparer (1) 

prepared and signed the return or claim for refund (or prepared if there is no signature space on the form); (2) was eligible to sign the return or 
claim for refund; (3) has a valid PTIN ; and (4) possesses the required Annual Filing Season Program Record of Completion(s). See Special Rules 
and Requirements for Unenrolled Return Preparers In the Instructions for additional Information. 

k Qualifying Student-receives permission to represent taxpayers before the IRS by virtue of his/her status as a law, business, or accounting student 
working in an LITC or STCP. See instructions for Part II for additional information and requirements. 

r Enrolled Retirement Plan Agent-enrolled as a retirement plan agent under the requirements of Circular 230 (the authority to practice before the 
Internal Revenue Service Is limited by section 10.3(e)) . 

.... IF THIS DECLARATION OF REPRESENTATIVE IS NOT COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND DATED, THE IRS WILL RETURN THE 
POWER OF ATTORNEY. REPRESENTATIVES MUST SIGN IN THE ORDER LISTED IN PART I, LINE 2. 

Note: For designations d- f, enter your title, position, or relationship to the taxpayer in the "Licensing jurisdiction" column. 

Designation­
Insert above 
letter (a-r). 

a 

a 

a 

Licensing jurisdict ion 
(State) or other 

licensing authority 
or applicable). 

CA 

DC 

DC 

Bar, license, certification, 
registration, or enrollment 

number Of applicable). 

081841 

370796 

16025 18 

Date 

Form 2848 (Rev. 1-2018) 
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3/12/2021 Paul Joseph Dostart #81841 - Attorney Licensee Search

members.calbar.ca.gov/fal/Licensee/Detail/81841 1/1

Paul Joseph Dostart #81841
License Status: Active
Address: Dostart Hannink & Coveney LLP, 4180 La Jolla Village Dr, Ste 530, La Jolla, CA 92037-1474
County: San Diego County
Phone Number: (858) 623-4210
Fax Number: (858) 623-4299
Email: pdostart@sdlaw.com 
Law School: Univ of Houston Law Center; Houston TX 

Below you will �nd all changes of license status due to both non-disciplinary administrative matters and disciplinary
actions.

Date License Status Discipline Administrative Action
Present Active    
11/29/1978 Admitted to The State Bar of California

Additional Information:
Explanation of licensee status
Explanation of disciplinary system
Explanation of disciplinary actions
Copies of o�cial licensee discipline records are available upon request

CLA Sections: Business Law 
Taxation 

California Lawyers Association (CLA) is an independent organization and is not part of The State Bar of California.

© 2021 The State Bar of California  
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04/21/2021 6:02:52 PM -0400 IRS PAGE 1 OF 5 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE fiiRS 
FAX TRANSMISSION 

Cover Sheet 
Date: April 21, 2021 

To: Paul Dostart 

Address/Organization:---------------------------

Fax Number: (858) 623-4299 Office Number: _________ _ 

From: Merriam Fatima 

Address/Organization:--------------------------

Fax Number: ______________ Office Number:---------

Number of pages: Including cover page 

Subject: FOIA Request 

Good Afternoon! 

Attached is an extension letter. 

FYI: 
I have transferred a portion of your request to TIGTA as per our conversation on 4/9. 
I am in contact with TEGE regarding your document request and is waiting for an update on the 
progress. 

Please call me if you have any questions. 

Try to be a rainbow in someone's cloud. -Maya Angelu 
Fate Merriam 
Senior Disclosure Specialist 
D010 
(206)946-3528 (Phone) 
(855)205-9333 (E-Fax) 
Internal Revenue Service 

This communication is intended for the sole use of the individual to whom it is addressed and may contain confidential information that is privileged, 
confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited by the provisions of the Internal Revenue code. If you have received this 
communication in error, please contact the sender immediately by telephone. Thank you. 
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M/S W625 
915 2nd Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98174 

PAGE 2 OF 5 
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04/21/2021 6:02:52 PM -0400 IRS 

(I 
IRS 

Department of the Treasury 
Internal Revenue Service 
Privacy, Governmental Liaison and Disclosure 
Centralized Processing Unit 
Stop 93A 
PO Box 621506 
Atlanta, GA 30362 

Paul J. Dostart 
Dostart Hannink & Coveney LLP 
4180 La Jolla Village Dr .. Ste. 530 
La Jolla, CA 92037-1474 

Dear Paul J. Dostart: 

Date: 

April 21, 2021 
Employee name: 

PAGE 3 

Fatima Merriam 
Employee 10 number: 

1000226048 
Telephone number: 

206-946-3528 
Fax number: 

855-205-9333 
Case number: 

2021-11216 
Re: Free Sacred Trinity Church, 
Optimum Health Institute-San 
Diego, Optimum Health Institute­
Austin 

This is in response to your Freedom oflnformation Act (FOIA) request dated March 19, 2021, 
received in our otTice on March 24, 2021. 

You asked for examination administrative tiles dated after response tt·om FOIA request 
F19071-0040 dated December 20, 2019 for Free Sacred Trinity Church, Optimum Health 
Institute-San Diego and Optimum Health Institute- Austin. 

OF 5 

I'm unable to provide the information you requested by April21, 2021, which is the 20 business­
day period allowed by law. In certain circumstances, the FOIA allows for an additional 10-day 
statutory extension. 

I need additional time to: 

[31 Search for and collect the requested records from other locations 

D Search for, collect, and review a large volume of records 

Consult with another agency or Treasury component 

D Consult with another IRS office 

As part of this extension, the statutory response date will be extended to May 5, 2021. 
Unfmtunately, I will still be unable to respond to you by the extended statutory response date. 
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I need additional time to search for records and review records and expect to complete your 
request by June 22, 2021. You don't need to reply to this letter if you agree to the extended 
response date. Please consider contacting me to arrange an alternative time fran1e for processing 
the request or limiting the scope of your FOIA request, which may reduce the time in processing 
your request 

Please be aware that extending the time for responding to your request will not delay or postpone 
any administrative, examination, investigation, or collection action. 

Pursuant to 26 CFR § 601,702, there is no right to an administrative appeal for failure to meet the 
statutory 20 business day, or additional 10 business day, time limits for response. 

However, you do have the right to file suit for a judicial review. You can file suit after 
May 5, 2021. File your suit in the US. District Court: 

Where you reside or have your principal place of business 
Where the records are located, or 

In the District of Columbia 

Rule 4(i)(l)(C), of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, requires you to send the IRS a copy of 
the summons and complaint as well as to the Attorney General and the United States Attorney 
for the district in which the action is brought You must send the IRS copies, by registered or 
certified mail, to: 

Attention: CC: P A: Br 6/7 
Commissioner of Internal Revenue 

1111 Constitution A venue, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20224 

I apologize for any inconvenience this delay may cause. 

If you would like to discuss our response, you have the right to contact the FOIA Public Liaison, 
Summer Sutherland, at 801-620-2149. 

The FOIA Public Liaison responds to FOIA requests for copies of documents maintained by the 
IRS. There is no provision in the FOIA to resolve tax, collection, or processing issues. If you 
need assistance with tax-related issues, you can call the IRS at 800-829-1040. 

You also have the right to contact the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS). The 
Office of Government Infonnation Services. the Federal FOIA Ombudsman's office. offers 
mediation services to help resolve disputes between FOIA requesters and federal agencies. The 
contact information for OGIS is: 
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Otiice of Government Infonnation Services 
National Archives and Records Administration 

8601 Adelphi Road--OGIS 
College Park, MD 20740-6001 

202-741-5770 
877-684-6448 
ogis@nara.gov 

ogis.archives.gov 

PAGE 5 OF 5 

If you have questions, you can contact me at the telephone number shown at the top of this letter. 

Sincerely, 
.r1 

jtd</~ 
Fate Merriam 
Senior Disclosure Specialist 
Disclosure Office 10 

Case 3:21-cv-01756-GPC-DEB   Document 1   Filed 10/11/21   PageID.54   Page 54 of 61



EXHIBIT 5

 

Case 3:21-cv-01756-GPC-DEB   Document 1   Filed 10/11/21   PageID.55   Page 55 of 61



DEPARTMENT  OF THE TREAS URY

                                WASHINGTON, D.C.  20005

            INSPECTOR GENERAL
                                      FOR TAX
                             ADMINISTRATION 

April 23, 2021

SENT VIA E-MAIL:  paul.dostart@sdlaw.com

Paul J. Dostart
4180 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 530  
La Jolla, California  92037-1474

Dear Mr. Dostart:

This is in response to your Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request, dated 
March 12, 2021, seeking access to records maintained by the Treasury Inspector 
General for Tax Administration (TIGTA).  We received your request on March 26, 2021.

We are requesting an extension of 10 business days from the date of this letter due to 
unusual circumstances.  These circumstances include:

The need to search for and/or collect the requested records from TIGTA field 
offices or other functional areas.

The need to consult with another agency or office having a substantial interest in 
the determination of the request or among two or more Treasury components 
having a substantial subject-matter interest.

We estimate that given the extension of time requested, we will issue a final response to 
your FOIA request on or before May 7, 2021.  If you agree to this voluntary extension, 
no reply to this letter is necessary.  If you wish to consider limiting the scope of your 
request or agree to an alternative time frame for processing, should records be located, 
please contact us as soon as possible. 

If you do not agree to the extension of time nor want to modify the scope of your 
request, you may contact our FOIA Public Liaison at (202) 557-5616 or by e-mail at 
amy.jones@tigta.treas.gov.  Additionally, you may contact the Office of Government 
Information Services (OGIS) at the National Archives and Records Administration to 
inquire about the FOIA mediation services they offer.  The contact information for OGIS 
is as follows:  Office of Government Information Services, National Archives and 
Records Administration, 8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS, College Park, Maryland 20740-
6001; e-mail at ogis@nara.gov; telephone at (202) 741-5770; toll free at 
(877) 684-6448; or fax at (202) 741-5769.
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2 

If you have any questions, please contact Government Information Specialist David 
Greek at (202) 878-9194 or david.greek@tigta.treas.gov and reference case 
#2021-FOI-00136.

Sincerely,

David Greek
 (For) Amy P. Jones

Disclosure Officer and
    FOIA Public Liaison
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06/21/2021 6:44:24 PM -0400 IRS 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 

Date: June 21, 2021 

To: Paul Dostart 

FAX TRANSMISSION 
Cover Sheet 

PAGE 1 OF 3 

fiiRS 

Address/Organization:---------------------------

Fax Number: (858) 623-4299 Office Number: _________ _ 

Frorn:~M~e~r~r~ia~m~F~a~ti~m~a~-------------------

Address/Organization:--------------------------

Fax Number: ______________ Office Number:---------

Number of pages: 

Subject: FOIA Request 

We are working on interim documents that were received. 

Try to be a rainbow in someone's cloud. -Maya Angelu 
Fate Merriam 
Senior Disclosure Specialist 
D010 
(206)946-3528 (Phone) 
(855)205-9333 (E-Fax) 
Internal Revenue Service 
M/S W625 
915 2nd Avenue 
Seattle, WA 98174 

Including cover page 

This communication is intended for the sole use of the individual to whom it is addressed and may contain confidential information that is privileged, 
confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited by the provisions of the Internal Revenue code. If you have received this 
communication in error, please contact the sender immediately by telephone. Thank you. 
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(I 
IRS 

Department of the Treasury 
Internal Revenue Service 
Privacy, Governmental Liaison and Disclosure 
Centralized Processing Unit 
Stop 93A 
PO Box 621506 
Atlanta, GA 30362 

Paul J. Dostart 
Dostart Hannink & Coveney LLP 
4180 La Jolla Village Dr .. Ste. 530 
La Jolla, CA 92037-1474 

Date: 

June 21, 2021 
Employee name: 

Fatima Merriam 
Employee 10 number: 

1000226048 
Telephone number: 

206-946-3528 
Fax number: 

855-205-9333 
Case number: 

2021-11216 
Re: Free Sacred Trinity Church, 
Optimum Health Institute-San 
Diego, Optimum Health Institute­
Austin 

Dear Paul J. Dostart: 

This is in response to your Freedom oflnformation Act (FOIA) request dated March 19, 2021, 
received in our otTice on March 24, 2021. 

On April21, 2021 I asked for more time to obtain the records you requested. I am still working 
on your request and need additional time to obtain and review records requested. I will contact 
you by September 21, 2021 ifl an1 still unable to complete your request. 

Once again, I apologize for any inconvenience this delay may cause. 

If you would like to discuss our response, you have the right to contact the FOIA Public Liaison, 
Summer Sutherland, at 801-620-2149. 

The FOIA Public Liaison responds to FOIA requests for copies of documents maintained by the 
IRS. There is no provision in the FOIA to resolve tax, collection, or processing issues. If you 
need assistance with tax-related issues, you can call the IRS at 800-829-1040. 

You also have the right to contact the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS ). The 
Office of Government Information Services, the Federal FOIA Ombudsman's office, offers 
mediation services to help resolve disputes between FOIA requesters and federal agencies. The 
contact infonnation for OGIS is: 

Office of Government Information Services 
National Archives and Records Administration 

8601 Adelphi Road--OGIS 
College Park, MD 20740-6001 

202-741-5770 
877-684-6448 
ogis@nara. gov 

ogis.archives.gov 
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If you have questions, you can contact me at the telephone number shown at the top of this letter. 

Sincerely, 
/l 

jd~:.-v 
/ / 

Fate Merriam 
Senior Disclosure Specialist 
Disclosure Office 10 
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